STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
Jun 10 2022
SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Oconee County

Honorable R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RANDY LEE CANTRELL,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-001144

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

VICTOR R SEEGER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred by denying Appellant's pretrial motion to suppress the unanalyzed pipe where the pipe was highly prejudicial evidence that had very little probative value because the substance in the pipe was never analyzed such that the state never proved that it was methamphetamine?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the October 2019 term, the Oconee County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for possession of methamphetamine, third offense. R.*.

On August 23 – 24, 2021, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable R. Scott Sprouse. Tr. 1. Bethany Ann Blundy represented Appellant. Id. Kayla Michelle Porter represented the state. Id. As the first day of trial came to a close, Appellant complained of chest pains and had to go to the hospital. Tr. 29, l. 12 – 30, l. 2. Appellant left the hospital and was not present for second day of trial. Tr. 69, l. 1 – 73, l. 5.

Appellant was found guilty of possession of methamphetamine, third offense, in his absence. Tr. 251, ll. 3 – 11. Judge Sprouse sealed Appellant’s sentence. Tr. 252, l. 24 – 253, l. 5.

On September 23, 2021, Appellant’s sentencing hearing proceeded before the Honorable J. Cordell Maddox. Sentencing Tr. 1. Beth Ann Blundy represented Appellant. Sentencing Tr. 2. Kayla Michelle Porter represented the state. Id. Judge Maddox unsealed the sentence and Appellant was sentenced to ten years’ imprisonment for possession of methamphetamine, third offense. Sentencing Tr. 4, ll. 6 – 19.

This brief follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (“quoting State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id.; see also State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred by denying Appellant's pretrial motion to suppress the unanalyzed pipe where the pipe was highly prejudicial evidence that had very little probative value because the substance in the pipe was never analyzed such that the state never proved that it was methamphetamine.

Relevant Facts

On April 6, 2019, Appellant was pulled over while he was driving his girlfriend's car. Tr. 102, ll. 2 – 9; Tr. 149, l. 22 – 151, l. 3. Officer Hernandez stated he pulled Appellant over because of a broken taillight. Id. Appellant was forthcoming with the officer and told him right away that there was marijuana in the car. Tr. 123, l. 19 – 124, l. 6.

Officer Hernandez waited for the K-9 unit to arrive to perform a dog sniff search of the car. Tr. 124, l. 12 – 127, l. 10. The K-9 unit alerted to drugs at the driver side door. Tr. 92, l. 25 – 93, l. 10. Appellant's girlfriend's car was then searched. Tr. 124, l. 21 – 125, l. 2.

The search of the cabin of the car produced three pipes, a grinder, and scales. Tr. 124, ll. 13 – 20; Tr. 128, l. 11 – 129, l. 24; Tr. 129, l. 25 – 132, l. 5. Officer Hernandez observed the pipes and concluded that two of the pipes were used for marijuana and one had a crystal-like substance in it. Tr. 128, l. 11 – 129, l. 14. Hernandez only sent the pipe with the crystal-like substance to the laboratory for analysis. Id. The search then went to the trunk of Appellant's girlfriend's car and, inside a bag with someone else's initials stitched into it, a potpourri burner was found with a crystal-like substance inside of it. Tr. 46, l. 18 – 47, l. 12; Tr. 132, l. 6 – 133, l. 15. The potpourri burner was also sent to the laboratory for analysis. Tr. 141, ll. 15 – 19.

At Appellant's trial the lab tech, Meredith Lanford, testified to the tests she performed in this case. Tr. 196, ll. 2 – 9. She tested the potpourri burner and stated the results showed the

crystal-like substance was methamphetamine. Tr. 200, l. 1 – 201, l. 3; Tr. 204, l. 23 – 205, l. 19. However, she also explained she did not analyze the substance found in the pipe that was sent for testing. Tr. 206, l. 24 – 207, l. 10. Accordingly, the state did not prove that the pipe had methamphetamine in it such that the probative value of the pipe was minuscule.

Recognizing the highly prejudicial nature of the pipe and its small probative value, trial counsel properly made a pretrial motion to suppress it from being presented as evidence against Appellant. Tr. 25, l. 12 – 26, l. 6. Trial counsel argued that because the pipe was never analyzed we don't know if there was actually any [methamphetamine] in that pipe.” Id. The solicitor admitted that trial counsel was right in that there was no way to be certain what was inside the pipe because it was never analyzed. Tr. 26, ll. 8 – 23. However, even without testing the substance in the pipe, the solicitor argued that the pipe was still “super relevant.” Id.

During his proffered testimony, Officer Hernandez stated that he observed a “crystal like substance... on the [pipe taken into custody].” Tr. 38, ll. 12 – 22. Hernandez further stated that he charged Appellant with possession of methamphetamine based on his observation of the crystal-like substance, *the pipes being in the car*, Appellant being the only person in the car, and his personal items being in the car. Tr. 43, l. 21 – 44, l. 11. Accordingly, the fact that the pipes were found inside the car created a sufficient connection to Appellant such that Hernandez levied charges against Appellant because of it.

On cross-examination, Hernandez admitted that he could not say “for sure” that the substance in the pipe was methamphetamine. Tr. 44, l. 20 – 45, l. 3. He further admitted that the pipe could have been used to smoke anything and that because no testing was done on the pipe he does not know if it contained methamphetamine. Tr. 48, ll. 20 – 23; Tr. 51, ll. 7 – 16.

The trial court denied Appellant's motion to suppress the untested pipe because Hernandez testified "that based on his training and experience [the substance] was most likely methamphetamine." Tr. 65, l. 25 – 66, l. 8. The trial court concluded the pipe was relevant despite the chemist not testing it and that Appellant's arguments go to the weight of the evidence rather than its admissibility. Tr. 66, l. 9 – 67, l. 24. As a result, Appellant's trial proceeded and he was convicted of possession of methamphetamine, third offense. Tr. 251, ll. 3 – 11.

Discussion

The trial court abused its discretion when it denied defense counsel's motion to suppress the untested pipe pursuant to Rules 401, 402, and 403¹ SCRE because the danger of unfair prejudice from admitting untested pipe substantially outweighed its scant probative value. Tr. 25, l. 12 – 26, l. 6.

Generally, all relevant evidence is admissible. Rule 402, SCRE. Relevant evidence is evidence having the tendency to make some matter in issue more or less probable. Rule 401, SCRE; See State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 158, 679 S.E.2d 172, 176 (2009); see also State v. Crocker, 366 S.C. 394, 408, 621 S.E.2d 890, 898 (2005). However, even relevant evidence must "be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice." Rule 403, SCRE. Thus, consideration of whether evidence is relevant and admissible requires consideration of the evidence's probative value, the danger of unfair prejudice posed by the evidence, and the balancing of those two.

"'Probative' means '[t]ending to prove or disprove.'" State v. Gray, 408 S.C. 601, 609, 759 S.E.2d 160, 165 (2014). According to this Court, "'[p]robative value' is the measure of the importance of that tendency to the outcome of a case." Id. at 610, 759 S.E.2d at 165. The

¹ Trial counsel cited Rule 404 SCRE, but she stated the pipe was more prejudicial than probative, which is a direct reference to Rule 403 SCRE. Tr. 25, ll. 20 – 21.

probative value of evidence is directly related to how important that evidence is in assisting the jury in rendering a verdict. Id. When analyzing the probative value of evidence, the court must consider the importance of the evidence as it relates to the issues presented in the case. State v. Lee, 399 S.C. 521, 528, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (2012). Specifically, regarding the probative value of evidence an appellate court, “considers the importance of the evidence and the significance of the issues to which the evidence relates.” State v. Gray, 408 S.C. 601, 610, 759 S.E.2d 160, 165 (2014); see also State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 703 S.E.2d 226 (2010).

To determine the prejudicial effect of offered evidence, an appellate court must look at the entire record. State v. Gillian, 373 S.C. 601, 609, 646 S.E.2d 872, 876 (2007). The result will generally turn on the facts of each case. Id. “‘Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant’s case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest [a] decision on an improper basis.’” State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (1998)(quoting United States v. Bonds, 12 F.3d 540, 567 (1993)).

According to the United States Supreme Court, “[t]he term ‘unfair prejudice,’ as to a criminal defendant, speaks to the capacity of some concededly relevant evidence to lure the factfinder into declaring guilt on a ground different from proof specific to the offense charged.” Old Chief v. United States, 519 U.S. 172, 180 (1997). Evidence that merits suppression for undue prejudice to defendant is such that it, “damages an opponent for reasons other than its probative value, for instance, an appeal to emotion.” United States v. Mohr, 318 F.3d 613, 619-620 (4th Cir. 2003).

Once a court has determined the probative value and the danger of unfair prejudice of the evidence, the court must balance the two. State v. Dial, 405 S.C. 247, 260, 746 S.E.2d 495, 502

(2013). Only after balancing the probative value and the danger of unfair prejudice may the court determine if the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighs the probative value of the proffered evidence as required by Rule 403, SCRE.

Our Supreme Court's analysis of Rule 403 SCRE, in State v. Collins, 398 S.C. 197, 727 S.E.2d 751 (2012) provided a four-step test to analyze if the danger of unfair prejudice from a piece of evidence substantially outweighed its probative value. The first step is a determination of the probative value of the evidence. The second is an evaluation of the danger of unfair prejudice resulting from the introduction of the evidence. The third, is a balancing test the court must make between the probative value and unfair prejudice of the evidence in question. The fourth is the appellate court review of the decision of the trial court for an abuse of discretion. Id.

The aforementioned analytical framework, when applied to the present case, reveals that the low probative value of the pipe was substantially outweighed by the unfair prejudice posed to Appellant. The first step of the Collins framework is to determine the probative value of the contested evidence. Here, the untested pipe had very little probative value because, as Officer Hernandez admitted, since the pipe was never analyzed we have no way of knowing, or proving, that the substance in the untested pipe was methamphetamine. Tr. 178, ll. 10 – 21.

The second step is determining the danger of unfair prejudice to Appellant by the untested pipe's admission. Here, the danger of unfair prejudice from the admission of the untested pipe was high. In this case, there were two key pieces of evidence. The potpourri burner found in the trunk, in a purse with someone else's initials monogrammed on it, and the untested pipe found in the passenger compartment of the car. Tr. 47, ll. 6 – 12; Tr. 80, l. 14 – 81, l. 2.

While the substance in the potpourri burner was tested and came back positive for methamphetamine, it was located in the trunk and in someone else's purse. Id.; Id. Therefore, the

probative value was reduced as the link between the potpourri burner and Appellant was tenuous. It is certainly reasonable to argue, as defense counsel did, that the potpourri burner belonged to a third party because of where it was found in the car. Tr. 47, ll. 6 – 12; Tr. 80, l. 14 – 81, l. 2.


However, the untested pipe was beguiling because it was found in the passenger compartment of the car, within arm's reach of Appellant, while Appellant was in the car alone. Tr. 43, l. 24 – 44, l. 11; Tr. 111, ll. 7 – 20; Tr. 161, ll. 6 – 21. Therefore, the danger of unfair prejudice from the admission of the untested pipe was high as it was used to lead the jury to believe Appellant was guilty of possession of methamphetamine, despite the fact that the mystery substance in the pipe was never proven to be methamphetamine.

Thus, given the relative low probative value and high danger of unfair prejudice from admitting the untested pipe into evidence, the third step in the Collins framework, the balancing test between the probative value and danger of unfair prejudice of admission of the untested pipe, naturally weighed in favor of suppression. The final inquiry for this Court, then, is whether the trial court abused its discretion when it admitted, over defense counsel's objection, the untested pipe into Appellant's trial for possession of methamphetamine. Tr. 65, l. 25 – 67, l. 24.

The only dispute in this case was whether Appellant possessed methamphetamine and the admittance of the untested pipe into evidence did not make it more or less probable that Appellant committed the crime charged against him. All the admission of the pipe did was invite the jury to speculate as to what the substance inside the pipe was and to convict Appellant of possession of methamphetamine based on that speculative, improper basis. Therefore, the trial court abused its discretion when it denied defense counsel's motion to suppress the untested pipe with the mystery substance in it for being substantially more prejudicial than probative.

CONCLUSION

By reason of the foregoing arguments, Appellant respectfully requests that this Court vacate Appellant's conviction and remand his case for a new trial.



Victor R Seeger
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT