RECEIVED

Dec 29 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Oconee County
Honorable R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge
Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2021-001144

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

RANDY LEE CANTRELL,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID R. WAGNER, JR.
Solicitor, Tenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 8002
Anderson, SC 29622
(864) 260-4046

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion over evidentiary matters by denying defense counsel’s motion seeking the suppression of a residue-covered glass pipe found in the same vehicle as the methamphetamine because: (1) the pipe constituted drug paraphernalia that was within reaching distance of Appellant and, thus, was relevant and probative on the issue of his constructive possession and knowledge of an also-nearby illegal substance that could be smoked with that pipe; and (2) the pipe’s probative value was not substantially outweighed by its potential for unfair prejudice because the jury could be and was made fully aware of the relative strengths and weaknesses of that circumstantial evidence.

Appellant contends the trial judge abused his discretion and reversibly erred by denying defense counsel’s “pretrial” motion to suppress the glass pipe.⁵ As support for that contention, Appellant maintains the probative value of the glass pipe was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. And, in so maintaining, Appellant premises his argument on an inaccurate assertion the burner with the methamphetamine on top was located inside a purse in

⁵ Notably, Appellant’s choice to frame the issue on appeal as alleging error in the trial judge’s denial of a “pre-trial” suppression motion is a telling one. (App. Br. p. 1; p. 4). Although defense counsel moved for the glass pipe to be suppressed during an in camera hearing before the evidentiary phase of trial got underway, defense counsel indicated to the trial judge she had no objections to the glass pipe itself or any of the evidence related to it when the solicitor sought its admission into evidence during trial, and, resultantly, the trial judge admitted all that evidence without objection. (R. pp. 25-26; p. 64; p. 95; p. 128; pp. 147-148; p. 204). Under such circumstances, defense counsel’s earlier objection was *abandoned* instead of simply not renewed, and any issue concerning the admission of the evidence concerning the glass pipe was not properly preserved for appellate review since that evidence was expressly admitted without objection during trial. See Burke v. AnMed Health, 393 S.C. 48, 55, 710 S.E.2d 84, 88 (Ct. App. 2011) (“When a party states to the trial court that it has no objection to the introduction of evidence, even though the party previously made a motion to exclude the evidence, the issue raised in the previous motion is not preserved for appellate review.”); State v. Dicapua, 373 S.C. 452, 455, 646 S.E.2d 150, 152 (Ct. App. 2007) (“Dicapua’s sole objection to the videotape came in the form of a motion in limine to suppress the videotape because of its lack of audio. Once the State moved to enter the videotape into evidence and publish it to the jury, however, Dicapua’s counsel specifically stated he had ‘no objection.’ We find this amounted to a waiver of any issue Dicapua had with the videotape.”); see also State v. Jones, 435 S.C. 138, 144, 866 S.E.2d 558, 561 (2021) (“[A] different approach is warranted where a court rules after a[n in limine] hearing on a constitutional issue. Under those circumstances, the ruling is final and, unless something changes during trial that may reasonably cause the trial judge to alter the pretrial ruling, no further objection is required to preserve the issue for appellate review.”).

the vehicle's trunk while the glass pipe with the residue on it was found in the vehicle's passenger compartment.⁶ Notwithstanding the fact Appellant's entire appellate argument rests on a fundamentally faulty and incorrect view of the facts, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion or otherwise by denying the suppression motion because: (1) the glass pipe with residue on it constituted drug paraphernalia that was within reaching distance of Appellant and, thus, was relevant and probative on the issue of his constructive possession and knowledge of an also-nearby illegal substance that could be smoked with that very pipe; and (2) the glass pipe's probative value was not substantially outweighed by its potential for unfair prejudice because the jury could be and was made fully aware of the relative strengths and weaknesses of that circumstantial evidence. Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.

All relevant evidence is admissible, and only relevant evidence should be admitted at trial. Rule 402, SCRE. "Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears." State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 380, 401 S.E.2d 146, 148 (1991); see Rule 401, SCRE (" 'Relevant evidence' means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence. ' ").

However, even if relevant, evidence must be excluded from trial if its probative value is *substantially* outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 158, 679 S.E.2d 172, 176 (2009); see Rule 403, SCRE ("Although relevant, evidence may be

⁶ As supposed support for his assertion the burner was "found in the trunk" inside a "purse with someone else's initials monogramed on it[.]" Appellant cites to defense counsel's opening statement. (App. Br. p. 8). But, in the cited portion of the opening statement, defense counsel did *not* make an assertion consistent with the one Appellant has advanced on appeal. (R. p. 80). Instead, defense counsel advised the jury the burner was found "in the back seat" of the car inside a "box of clothes[.]" (R. p. 80).

excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.”); see also New Oxford American Dictionary 1736 (3rd ed. 2010) (defining “substantially” as “to a great or significant extent”). The determination of the probative value of evidence relative to its potential prejudicial effect must be based on the entire record and the result generally hinges on the facts of each case. State v. Gillian, 373 S.C. 601, 609, 646 S.E.2d 872, 876 (2007).

Probative value is the measure of the importance of a piece of evidence’s tendency to prove or disprove some fact or issue relevant to the outcome of a case. State v. Collins, 398 S.C. 197, 202, 727 S.E.2d 751, 754 (Ct. App. 2012), rev’d on other grounds, 409 S.C. 524, 763 S.E.2d 22 (2014). Meanwhile, unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis. State v. Dickerson, 341 S.C. 391, 400, 535 S.E.2d 119, 123 (2000); see Old Chief v. United States, 519 U.S. 172, 181 (1997) (“The term ‘unfair prejudice,’ as to a criminal defendant, speaks to the capacity of some concededly relevant evidence to lure the factfinder into declaring guilt on a ground different from proof specific to the offense charged.”). However, unfair prejudice does *not* mean damage to a defendant’s case that results from the legitimate probative force of a piece of evidence. State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct. App. 1998). That is true because all evidence introduced by the State in a criminal trial is meant to be prejudicial to the defendant, and it is only unfair prejudice that must be avoided. Id.

When ruling on the comparative probative value and potential prejudicial effect of evidence, trial judges have “particularly wide discretion[.]” Collins, 398 S.C. at 209, 727 S.E.2d at 757. As a result, a trial judge’s ruling on such a matter should be afforded great deference on

appeal and should only be reversed in exceptional circumstances. State v. Lyles, 379 S.C. 328, 339-340, 665 S.E.2d 201, 207 (Ct. App. 2008). Importantly, “[a] trial judge’s balancing decision under Rule 403 should not be reversed simply because an appellate court believes it would have decided the matter otherwise because of a differing view of the highly subjective factors of the probative value or the prejudice presented by the evidence.” State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. 344, 358, 543 S.E.2d 586, 593-594 (Ct. App. 2001), overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). “If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal.” Hamilton, 344 S.C. at 358, 543 S.E.2d at 594.

In the case sub judice, Appellant was indicted for possession of methamphetamine. To prove his guilt for that charge, the State was required to demonstrate to the jury beyond a reasonable doubt Appellant was in actual or constructive possession of the methamphetamine *and* had knowledge of its presence. See State v. Muhammed, 338 S.C. 22, 26, 524 S.E.2d 637, 639 (1999) (“Conviction of possession requires proof of possession, either actual or constructive, *coupled with knowledge of its presence*.” (emphasis added)). As a result, any evidence—including circumstantial evidence—bearing on Appellant’s knowledge of the methamphetamine was particularly relevant, probative, and important during his trial. See State v. Hernandez, 382 S.C. 620, 624, 677 S.E.2d 603, 605 (2009) (“In drug cases, the element of knowledge is seldom established through direct evidence, but may be proven circumstantially.”); State v. Kimbrell, 294 S.C. 51, 54, 362 S.E.2d 630, 631 (1987) (“Possession may be inferred from circumstances.”); State v. Hudson, 294 S.C. 51, 202, 284 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1981) (recognizing constructive possession can be established by circumstantial evidence).

Significantly, one type of circumstantial evidence that can be relevant and probative for the purpose of establishing the knowledge necessary to prove an individual's possession of an illegal drug is the presence of drug paraphernalia, such as a glass pipe used for consuming the drug. See Parks v. State, 853 So. 2d 884, 887 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) (“The fact of Parks’s proximity to the paraphernalia that could be used in the purchase and consumption of marijuana was relevant in showing constructive possession.”). That is true because items like glass pipes are well known and well recognized to be connected to drug usage and have little—if any—other non-illicit useful purposes. See United States v. Runner, 43 F.4th 417, 422 (4th Cir. 2022) (“[T]he *predominate* purpose of stem pipes has been—and continues to be—to smoke illegal substances. Despite the increased use of glass pipes to ingest legal substances such as CBD oil, it is still reasonable that a police officer would reach the belief that a glass pipe was evidence of a crime supporting probable cause.”).

In light of that, the glass pipe with residue on it recovered during the traffic stop in Appellant’s case was a relevant and probative piece of evidence supporting Appellant’s knowledge of the presence of the methamphetamine found elsewhere in the vehicle’s passenger compartment since the logical use of such a pipe was for consuming a substance just like the also-present methamphetamine. See State v. Lewis, 566 So. 2d 1120, 1124-1125 (La. Ct. App. 1990) (concluding the trial judge properly admitted evidence of a glass pipe found inside a vehicle during a prosecution for possession of cocaine because the pipe was drug paraphernalia and, thus, was “relevant to show the defendant’s intent and guilty knowledge in the possession of cocaine” and further concluding any possible prejudice that could have resulted from the evidence of the pipe was substantially outweighed by its probative value). And, since the glass pipe was found to be within reaching distance of Appellant *and* close to both his candidly-

claimed marijuana and perishable groceries, its location in the vehicle strongly refuted any claim Appellant had no knowledge of it, and his knowledge of a residue-covered glass pipe typically used for smoking something like methamphetamine in turn constituted compelling evidence of his knowledge of the methamphetamine itself. See Flake v. State, 948 So. 2d 493, 498 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (explaining “possession of drug paraphernalia is relevant to possession of contraband” and noting glass pipes “are known and used in the drug culture for ingesting drugs, particularly methamphetamine”). Furthermore, its relevancy and probative value was only enhanced by the fact Appellant denied ownership of the vehicle, renounced any knowledge of the “shit” found inside it, and suggested others had access to the car, too. Cf. Buggs v. State, 738 So. 2d 1253, 1258 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) (“Buggs presented evidence to overcome this presumption [of constructive possession], mentioning the fact that there were three other occupants of the home with him. It was the prosecution’s duty to prove Buggs’s guilt of possession, and rebut Buggs’s argument that he was not in possession of the drugs. That is exactly why the State was allowed to offer the evidence of the crack cocaine found in a box in the kitchen closet, a matchbox containing over thirty pieces of crack cocaine at his feet, a crack pipe in Buggs’s possession, and other paraphernalia. The paraphernalia was evidence for the jury to determine whether Buggs had possession and control over the crack cocaine.”). Therefore, the trial judge correctly recognized the glass pipe with residue on it was relevant and probative in Appellant’s case. Cf. Flake, 948 So. 2d at 498 (concluding the presence of drug paraphernalia was “highly relevant” for the purpose of showing Flake’s knowledge of methamphetamine).

Meanwhile, the primary thing Appellant identified as potentially leading to unfair prejudice—the fact the residue on the pipe had not been conclusively determined to be

methamphetamine through forensic analysis—was something that could be *and was* called to the jury’s attention, which ensured the jurors understood the relative strengths and weaknesses of the glass pipe evidence and helped prevent Appellant from suffering any prejudice aside from that caused by the evidence’s legitimate probative force. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. at 630, 496 S.E.2d at 429; cf. People v. Alexander, 235 P.3d 873, 924 (Cal. 2010) (“The factors raised in defendant’s challenge to this evidence—that the presumptive tests could not confirm the substance tested was human blood, that confirmatory tests failed to confirm the presence of blood, and that it is unknown when the jacket might have been exposed to the substance that created the positive results—do not mean the test results have *no* tendency in reason to establish that defendant shot Agent Cross. Those issues affect the probative weight of the evidence, not whether the test results meet the threshold requirement of relevancy. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding this evidence was relevant.”). Under such circumstances, the jurors—who were fully aware the residue on the glass pipe had *not* been tested—could not have been improperly confused or misled by the evidence related to the glass pipe. Cf. Alexander, 235 P.3d at 924 (“The testimony regarding the presumptive blood tests had no particularly emotional component, nor did it consume an unjustified amount of time. Further, because the defense fully explored the limitations of the presumptive tests through cross-examination, there is no likelihood this evidence confused or misled the jury.”). Therefore, just as the trial judge recognized, the glass pipe’s potential for unfair prejudice did not substantially outweigh its probative value under the circumstances involved. See id. (explaining evidence need not be excluded when comparing its probative value to its potential prejudicial effect *unless* it poses an intolerable risk to the fairness of the proceedings or the reliability of the outcome).

Because the probative value of the glass pipe evidence was not substantially outweighed by the evidence's low potential to cause any improper prejudice to Appellant, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion by admitting the glass pipe evidence and leaving it to the jury to decide what weight—if any—to give it, and there are no exceptional circumstances present in Appellant's case that would warrant a reversal of that discretionary evidentiary ruling on appeal. See State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 129, 606 S.E.2d 508, 515 (Ct. App. 2004) (“A trial judge’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of relevant evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances.”); see also State v. Robinson, 426 S.C. 579, 607, 828 S.E.2d 203, 217 (2019) (recognizing it is conceivable the discretionary rulings of two different trial judges who reached opposite conclusions from the same set of circumstances will both be affirmed on appeal due to the deferential nature of the abuse of discretion standard of review). Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.